



# University of Groningen

# Strategies to Target Tumor Immunosuppression

Koutsoumpli, Georgia; Draghiciu, Oana; Nijman, Hans W.; Oyarce, Cesar; Daemen, Toos

Published in: Cancer Immunology

DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4\_5

IMPORTANT NOTE: You are advised to consult the publisher's version (publisher's PDF) if you wish to cite from it. Please check the document version below.

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Publication date: 2021

Link to publication in University of Groningen/UMCG research database

Citation for published version (APA): Koutsoumpli, G., Draghiciu, O., Nijman, H. W., Oyarce, C., & Daemen, T. (2021). Strategies to Target Tumor Immunosuppression. In N. Rezaei (Ed.), *Cancer Immunology: Bench to Bedside Immunotherapy of* Cancers (pp. 61-83). Springer International Publishing AG. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-50287-4\_5

Copyright Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

The publication may also be distributed here under the terms of Article 25fa of the Dutch Copyright Act, indicated by the "Taverne" license. More information can be found on the University of Groningen website: https://www.rug.nl/library/open-access/self-archiving-pure/taverneamendment.

#### Take-down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Downloaded from the University of Groningen/UMCG research database (Pure): http://www.rug.nl/research/portal. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to 10 maximum.



# Strategies to Target Tumor Immunosuppression

# 5

Georgia Koutsoumpli, Oana Draghiciu, Hans W Nijman, Cesar Oyarce, and Toos Daemen

# Contents

5.1	Introduction: The Balance of Immune Surveillance in the Tumor	62		
5.2	The Balance Is Tilted: Mechanisms of Tumor Immune Escape	62		
5.2.1	Tolerance Mechanisms.	62		
5.2.1.1	CD4+ Helper T Cells and CD8+ Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes: Negative			
	Polarization and Apoptosis	63		
5.2.1.2	Defects in the Antigen Presentation Process	63		
5.2.2	Immunosuppression Mechanisms	63		
5.2.2.1	Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts (CAFs)	64		
5.2.2.2	Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells (MDSCs)	64		
5.2.2.3	Regulatory T Cells (Tregs)	64		
5.2.2.4	Tumor-Associated Macrophages (TAMs)	64		
5.2.2.5	Tumor-Derived Immunosuppressive Factors	65		
5.3	Shifting the Balance: Strategies to Target Tumor			
	Immunosuppression.	67		
5.3.1	Strategies Targeting Homing of Effector T Cells	67		
5.3.1.1	Local Tumor Irradiation	67		
5.3.1.2	Blockade of Endothelin Receptors	69		
5.3.1.3	Taxane-Based Chemotherapy	69		
5.3.1.4	Antibody-Mediated Targeting of Effector CTLs	70		
5.3.2	Strategies Targeting the Activity of Effector T Cells	70		
5.3.2.1	Circumventing Activity of Suppressive Immune Populations: Depletion			
	or Inactivation Therapy	70		
5.3.2.2	Immunostimulatory Cytokines: Cytokine Therapy	71		
5.3.2.3	Blockade of Negative Regulatory Factors: Antibody Therapy	72		
5.4	Concluding Remarks	73		
References				

G. Koutsoumpli  $\cdot$  O. Draghiciu  $\cdot$  C. Oyarce

T. Daemen (🖂)

Department of Medical Microbiology, Tumor Virology and Cancer Immunotherapy, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands e-mail: c.a.h.h.daemen@umcg.nl H. W Nijman

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands

# 5.1 Introduction: The Balance of Immune Surveillance in the Tumor

In the beginning of the twentieth century, Paul Erlich was the first to introduce the concept of a vigilant immune system that can be manipulated to counteract tumor development [1]. However, due to lack of experimental evidence, it was not until the 1970s that Frank Macfarlane Burnet postulated the "immune surveillance theory." This theory brings to light a complex immunological mechanism capable of eliminating potentially malignant cells, mainly through recognition of tumor-specific antigens expressed on tumor cells [2]. In later years, several studies describing interactions between the immune system and the developing tumor have further refined this theory [3, 4].

Indeed, strong evidence supporting the key role of immune effector cell populations that are either tumor-specific, including B and T cells able to recognize tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) [5, 6], or non-specific, such as macrophages and natural killer (NK) cells, led to the sophisticated concept of cancer "immune editing," which spans cancer development from tumor immune surveillance to tumor immune escape [7, 8]. According to this concept, cancer development is comprised of three distinct phases [9, 10]: (1) the elimination, (2) the equilibrium, and (3) the escape, which are more extensively reviewed and discussed in separate chapters of this book. Particularly, the phenomenon of tumor immune escape according to which tumors are capable of side-tracking or completely blocking host antitumor immunity through interference with various components of the immune system is of major importance for the development of cancer immunotherapies [11]. Recently, several immune escape mechanisms have been described to hamper antitumor immune responses, either by reducing the homing of immune effector cells to the tumor site or by suppressing antitumor immune functions [12-15]. Therefore, cancer immunotherapies should attempt to stimulate homing and activation of immune effector cells and/or deplete or target pro-tumoral immunosuppressive cell populations and pathways.

Immunotherapy of cancer was selected as the breakthrough of the year 2013, according to

Science [16]. Indeed, several groundbreaking clinical trials demonstrated the potency of such therapeutic approaches in patients. Yet, trials have also demonstrated that the responses vary greatly between patients. While in a selected group of patients immunotherapy leads to a full eradication of the tumor, in other patients the same treatment does not evoke a response at all. Currently, tumor immunologists are searching for biomarkers that can be used to describe the "immune signature" of the tumor [17, 18]. Defining the intratumor immunologic profile unique for every tumor type or patient may enable personalized immunotherapeutic strategies for the effective control of tumor progression [19].

This chapter gives an overview of novel strategies for reversing/reducing immunosuppression in the tumor microenvironment, illustrating their targets and the underlying mechanisms responsible for their therapeutic antitumor activity. Prior to this, the immunosuppressive mechanisms most widely encountered in human tumors are briefly addressed.

# 5.2 The Balance Is Tilted: Mechanisms of Tumor Immune Escape

Tumor immune escape is a consequence of the so-called "immune editing" process driven by the host immune system, through which malignant cells sensitive to immune interventions are eliminated, but in some cases allowing immune-resistant variants to survive and further develop [20, 21]. The mechanisms of tumor immune escape can be functionally divided in two categories: immune tolerance and immunosuppression.

# 5.2.1 Tolerance Mechanisms

Tumors frequently induce a state of T-cell unresponsiveness toward tumor-associated antigens (TAAs), attributed partly to T-cell ignorance, since tumor cells express mainly self-antigens. Additionally, tumor cells often alter their antigen processing/presentation machinery, mostly toward a defective T-cell priming in the tumor microenvironment [12, 22], but also in adoptive strategies to directly block active immune surveillance, usually with the use of tumor-derived soluble factors [23]. Thus, the main targets of tumor-induced tolerance mechanisms are CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes (CTLs), dendritic cells (DCs), and the antigen presentation machinery. Both the relevance of these immune populations and the tolerance mechanisms they are the targets of are shortly addressed below.

# 5.2.1.1 CD4<sup>+</sup> Helper T Cells and CD8<sup>+</sup> Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes: Negative Polarization and Apoptosis

After proper cytokine stimulation, CD4<sup>+</sup> mature T helper cells play a crucial role in the initiation and activation of antitumor immune responses. IL-12 polarized, type 1 CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Th1) provide help to cytotoxic CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells by stimulating their proliferation and inducing IFN- $\gamma$  secretion once antigen-specific immunity has developed [24]. In contrast, IL-4 polarized, type 2 CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Th2) secrete cytokines which induce neutralizing antibody production by B cells [25], thus directing immunity toward a tumor-promoting Th2 response, prevalent in the context of tumor immunology.

A major mechanism of tumor-induced apoptosis of CTLs is via cross-linking between the overexpressed death receptor FasR (CD95) on the surface of activated effector T cells and its correspondent ligand FasL on the surface of human tumor cells [26, 27]. Direct tolerization of antitumor T cells by tumor cell-induced TGF- $\beta$ signaling is another highly effective mechanism, leading to a significantly decreased function and frequency of CTLs [23, 28].

#### 5.2.1.2 Defects in the Antigen Presentation Process

The main components of the antigen processing and presentation machinery are the antigenpresenting cells (APCs), TAAs, and major histocompatibility complex (MHC) (or human leukocyte antigen (HLA) in humans) class I antigens. Tumorinduced alterations can affect the functionality of any of these factors via several mechanisms [29].

DCs are the dominant APCs capable in activating T cells but also in tolerizing them, depending on the local microenvironment [30]. Key determinants of DC competence for antigen processing and presentation are their activation and maturation status [31]. In several studies, decreased numbers of mature DCs were detected in the secondary lymphoid organs of tumor-bearing mice [32–34]. This observation is consistent with studies in patients with rapidly growing solid or nonsolid tumors which exhibit significantly lower numbers of myeloid mature DCs [35-40]. In addition, isolated DC subsets have phenotypes similar to immature DCs and reduced expression of co-stimulatory molecules [41]. Downregulation of these molecules on the surface of DCs leads to inappropriate provision of co-stimulatory signals required for T-cell activation and interferes with the process of cross-presentation and thus results in death or anergy of antigen-specific CTLs [41, 42]. Moreover, DCs exposed to indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) or prostaglandins [29, 43], have been shown to induce tolerance and anergy leading to failure of recognizing tumor cells.

Another means of tumor-mediated immunosuppression, as a result of genetic instability of tumors over time, is the change of their antigenic profile and selective development of "epitope loss" [44–46], by which tumors fail to be recognized and eliminated by the immune system. An additional effect of this genetic instability is a diminished or abolished expression of HLA class I antigens and antigen presentation-associated proteins [25, 47–54], with a frequency of antigenic loss or downregulation ranging from around 15% in melanoma lesions up to more than 50% in primary prostate carcinoma [53, 54].

# 5.2.2 Immunosuppression Mechanisms

The machinery of tumor-induced immunosuppression is highly versatile, as it has developed to target a large variety of antitumor processes. Within the tumor microenvironment, many cell populations contribute to the generation of an immunosuppressive profile. These include cancerassociated fibroblasts (CAFs), myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), regulatory T cells (Tregs), and tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs). Furthermore, various tumor-derived factors with immunosuppressive activities also contribute to tumor progression. The mechanisms by which these cell populations and factors give rise to tumor-immune escape are addressed below.

### 5.2.2.1 Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts (CAFs)

CAFs are cells that reside mostly within the tumor mass, or are often found within the tumor stroma. CAFs facilitate the malignant transformation process and promote tumor growth, angiogenesis, inflammation, and metastasis [55]. Similar to normal fibroblasts, CAFs are very heterogeneous [56, 57] and therefore difficult to classify based on expression of specific markers. However, the most widely used markers for CAF classification are α-smooth muscle actin  $(\alpha$ -SMA) and fibroblast activation protein (FAP) [58]. Notably, the latter is being studied as a potential biomarker associated with poor prognosis in colorectal cancer [59]. Unlike normal fibroblasts present in healthy tissues, CAFs are more proliferative [60] and secrete various factors that promote tumor growth (such as CXCL12 [61], TGF- $\beta$  [62]) and modulate the expression of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) [63]. Several studies in diverse tumors suggest that CAFs are not only promoting tumor growth and metastasis but can also enhance drug resistance through various mechanisms [64]. In pancreatic cancer, CAFs decrease the sensitivity of cancer cells to chemotherapy and radiotherapy by secretion of soluble factors [65], while in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, CAFs protect cancer cells through secretion of MMPs [66].

#### 5.2.2.2 Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells (MDSCs)

MDSCs (CD11b<sup>+</sup>CD14<sup>-</sup>CD33<sup>+</sup>) [67] represent a heterogenic, bone-marrow-derived cell population [68, 69] with an increased frequency in the peripheral circulation and tumors of patients with different malignancies [70–72]. Migration of bone marrow precursors (which are further differentiated to MDSCs) to the tumor zone has been shown to be mainly induced by CCL2 secret by tumor cells [73]. Once MDSCs arrive, signals derived from the tumor promote their activation [69]. MDSCs are characterized by poor phagocytic activity, continuous production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), nitric oxide (NO), and several anti-

inflammatory cytokines [74]. As immune suppressive cells, they have the capacity to inactivate both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells through various mechanisms, including depletion of L-arginine [14], decreased tryptophan levels [75], and production of ROS [76], iNOS [77], and immunosuppressive cytokines, such as IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$  [78]. Although MDSC-mediated suppression mainly affects T-cell function, it has also been described that MDSCs impair T-cell activation, by inhibiting MHC class II expression [79] and thus leading to decreased antigen presentation.

#### 5.2.2.3 Regulatory T Cells (Tregs)

Similar to MDSCs, Tregs have also been shown to accumulate in tumors of patients with cancer [80]. Intratumoral accumulation of Tregs leads to poor prognosis for patients with gastric [81] and ovarian [80] carcinomas. CD4+ Tregs, characterized by the expression of FoxP3 [82], are a highly immunosuppressive subset of CD4+ T cells. Two major populations of FoxP3+ Tregs have been described to date: one "natural" subset, which differentiates in the thymus, and one "induced," developed in the periphery from conventional CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells [83]. Both subsets promote tumor immune escape via the following mechanisms: (1) by secretion of immunosuppressive mediators, including cytokines like IL-10, TGF- $\beta$ , and IL-35 [84, 85]; (2) by induction of effector T-cell apoptosis [86], as they promote a status of metabolic disruption secondary to IL-2 [87] deprivation; (3) by engagement of contact-dependent mechanisms of immunosuppression (e.g., inhibition of DC maturation, via CTLA-4 interaction with CD80/CD86 on DCs [88]); or by (4) by expression of suppressor molecules, such as LAG-3, CD39, neuropilin 1, or galectin 1 [89].

# 5.2.2.4 Tumor-Associated Macrophages (TAMs)

TAMs are immune cells that modulate and promote several immunosuppressive factors in the tumor microenvironment [90]. TAMs derive from monocytes that are recruited to the tumor [91] and, in the presence of Th2 cytokines such as IL-4 or IL-13, are polarized toward an M2 ("alternatively activated") non-cytotoxic phenotype [92]. Several studies have underlined their capacity to cause tumor growth both directly, by production of cytokines that stimulate proliferation of tumor cells [93], and indirectly, by stimulating proliferation of endothelial cells [94]. TAMs are frequently found in solid tumors, where they promote remodeling of the extracellular matrix and secrete growth factors inducing tumor-specific neoangiogenesis [95]. Moreover, TAMs are enriched in hypoxic areas in most of the solid tumors [96], where they support tumor cell proliferation by secreting cytokines and growth factors. Indeed, accumulation of macrophages within the hypoxic tumor areas of patients is correlated with poor prognosis [97]. On the other hand, increasing accumulation of TAMs in the normoxic tumor area supports M1-like macrophages, leading to an antitumor immune response [98], while blocking colony-stimulating factor-1 (CSF-1) signal decreases M2-like polarization and impedes malignant progression resulting in regression of established gliomas [99]. These processes thus underscore the therapeutic relevance of TAM polarization.

Recently, metabolic changes in the tumor microenvironment have gained attention suggesting that, during tumor progression, gradients of extracellular metabolites (like lactate) act as tumor morphogens that promote M2-like polarization [100, 101]. Moreover, it has been suggested that treating TAMs with the glycolysis inhibitor 2-deoxyglucose blocks the development of TAMs with a pro-metastatic phenotype [102]. In the same line, increasing glucose uptake specifically in TAMs outcompetes endothelial cells for glucose usage, thus reducing vascular hyperactivation and decreasing tumor angiogenesis [103], supporting the link between metabolism of TAMs and tumor angiogenesis.

TAM-mediated immunosuppression also affects T-cell function. Under IL-6 and IL-10 stimulation, expression of programmed deathligand 1 (PD-L1) is induced in TAMs [104], thus impairing T-cell effector activity. Moreover, programmed death 1 (PD-1) expression on the surface of TAMs correlates with decreased phagocytosis [105]. PD-1/PD-L1 blockade increases both effector T-cell activity and PD-1+ TAM phagocytosis, supporting the use of checkpoint inhibitors in cancer treatment. In addition, TAM-derived PGE2, IL-10, and IDO play important roles in the induction of Tregs. Furthermore, TAM-derived CCL17, CCL18, and CCL22 are chemotactic factors for Tregs [87], resulting in the suppression of T cells in the tumor microenvironment. For example, in the HPV16 E6- and E7-expressing TC-1 tumor mouse model, TAMs were shown to cause suppression of the antitumor T-cell response [106], while their secreted IL-10 subsequently induced a Treg phenotype [107].

# 5.2.2.5 Tumor-Derived Immunosuppressive Factors

Within the tumor microenvironment, signals that stimulate T-cell cytolytic functions can be replaced by inhibitory signals secreted by the tumor itself as a mechanism of immune escape.

#### Cytokines

The immunosuppressive cytokines TGF- $\beta$  and IL-10 are produced by Tregs as a means to disbalance T-lymphocyte surveillance of tumor development [108, 109], by inhibiting proliferation of antitumor effector T cells. Granulocyte-monocyte colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) is another cytokine with immunosuppressive properties. Due to these properties, GM-CSF facilitates recruitment and expansion of MDSCs in several cancer models [110, 111] and promotes generation and expansion of TAMs [112], despite being described as immunostimulatory in other settings [113]. The GM-CSF receptor (GM-CSF-R) signals through signal transducer and activator of transcription factor 3 (STAT3) [114], which has been linked to elevated PD-L1 expression on myeloid cells [115] and regulation of IDO expression in breast cancer MDSCs [116].

#### Enzymes

Together with arginase and iNOS, which are central for two of the mechanisms of immunosuppression exerted by MDSCs, IDO and cyclooxygenase 2 (COX2) also present immunosuppressive properties. IDO inhibits T-cell activation by depleting tryptophan [117], one of the essential amino acids necessary for T-cell development, whereas COX2 stimulates PGE2 production, a prostaglandin involved in conversion of human DCs into immunosuppressive MDSCs [118].

#### Negative Regulatory Factors

Antitumor immune responses are hampered by tumor-induced activation of negative regulatory pathways (also called checkpoints), either associated with immune homeostasis or actively facilitating tumor immune escape [119–121]. Frequently, antitumor immunity shares characteristics with chronic immune responses, such as T-cell exhaustion [122], mediated by the expression of multiple inhibitory receptors including PD-1 (also known as CD279), cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4, CD152), lymphocyte-activation gene (Lag-3), T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain containing-3 (Tim-3), CD244/2B4, CD160, TIGIT, BTLA, and others [12, 123-128]. Among them, PD-1 and CTLA-4 have been extensively studied and garnered attention due to the clinical success of antibody therapies [129–131]. PD-1 is a member of the CD28 superfamily of T-cell regulators, expressed on activated CD8+ T cells during priming or expansion, and functions mainly in peripheral tissues, where T cells encounter its two corresponding ligands, PD-L1 (B7-H1, CD274) and PD-L2 (B7-DC, CD273), members of the B7 family [132]. PD-L1 is expressed in various cell types, including stromal and tumor cells, but also in immune cells after exposure to effector cytokines such as IFN- $\gamma$ , while PD-L2 is mainly expressed on DCs in normal tissues [133]. In physiological situations, the PD-L1/PD-1 axis is an important negative feedback loop ensuring immune homeostasis through suppression of excessive immune activation [134] and facilitation of immune tolerance to self-antigens [132, 135, 136]. However, in the tumor, the PD-1/ PDL-1 axis restricts tumor immunity [129]. Tumor-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells that express lower levels of PD-1 showed less exhausted phenotypes [137], as compared with tumor-specific  $CD8^+T$ cells with higher PD-1 expression. Similarly high levels of PD-1 have been found on activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells during chronic infections [138]. Co-inhibitory signaling via PD-L1 (but not PD-L2) is necessary for conversion of naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells to adaptive CD4<sup>+</sup>FoxP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs. In addition, PD-L1 expression in various tumors, including breast, ovarian, colorectal, pancreatic cancer, and hematologic malignancies, has been considered a predictor of poor prognosis [139–143].

Although not as disputed as the PD-1/PD-L1 axis, LAG-3 is also a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily and is expressed on the surface of activated Tregs, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, B cells, and NKT cells, contributing to tumor immune suppression. Interestingly, Tregs from LAG-3<sup>(-/-)</sup> mice present reduced regulatory activity [144]. Lastly, CTLA-4 is a receptor expressed on the surface of Tregs and upregulated on activated conventional T cells [145, 146]. CTLA-4 transmits an inhibitory signal for T-cell activation by competing with the co-stimulatory molecule CD28 for binding to their shared ligands CD80 (B7.1) and CD86 (B7.2), with opposing effects

#### **Endothelin Receptors**

[147, 148].

Aberrant activation of the small bioreactive peptide endothelin 1 (ET1) and its receptors endothelin receptor type A (ETAR) and type B (ETBR), by a large array of stimuli, in a paracrine and autocrine loop [149], has multiple implications in the progression of various solid tumors, including prostate, colon, ovarian, breast, and lung cancer [150–154]. Upon binding of its ligand ET1, ETAR promotes vasoconstriction, tumor cell proliferation, and cell migration [155–158] through phospholipase C $\beta$ and downstream activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase family members, including ERK signaling [150]. ETAR may also play a role in chemoresistance [159]. On the other hand, ETBR was shown to inhibit T-cell homing and adhesion to the tumor by inducing the suppression of intracellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) on the endothelial cells [150]. High expression of ETAR has been reported in patients with prostate cancer and bone metastasis [160], HPV-induced neoplasia [156, 161], and renal cell carcinoma [162]. ETBR expression was associated with the absence of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes and decreased survival of patients with ovarian cancer [163]. Additionally, ETBR overexpression is associated with an aggressive tumor phenotype in melanoma [164, 165] and correlates with tumor progression and metastasis of vulvar squamous cell carcinoma [166].

The above-described spectrum of strategies developed by tumors to evade the cytolytic activity of the immune system illustrates the complexity of the tumor immune escape phenomenon and its capacity to adapt and particularly target distinct mechanisms of the antitumor immune response. Developing tumors are able to use different functions of the immune system to sustain their own growth and to simultaneously build up mechanisms which enable them to hide from an immune-based attack. Different types of tumors develop diverse immune escape mechanisms, translating into various degrees of tumor aggressiveness. Thus, the complexity of the tumor immune escape phenomenon resides in the ability of human tumors to develop unique signatures, which pose a real challenge for development of effective antitumor therapies.

# 5.3 Shifting the Balance: Strategies to Target Tumor Immunosuppression

Therapeutic approaches against cancer have mainly been oriented on the activation of the immune system to directly eliminate tumor cells, thus decreasing the tumor load. More recently, the importance of cancer-induced immune suppression is being taken into consideration with apparent clinical success of antibodies against immune checkpoints [129]. Despite the therapeutic potency of those immunotherapies, still only a subset of patients exhibit durable responses, suggesting that the main challenge of these strategies is the unique immune signature of tumors, which further translates into a large variability of tumorimmunosuppression mechanisms. induced Hence, the starting point of these strategies consists of mapping this immune signature, followed by a documented selection of uni- or multimodal therapies targeting the predominant immunosuppressive mechanisms developed within each tumor type. Based on their overall target aim, these therapies can be categorized as those which attempt to increase homing of effector T cells to tumors and those that, directly or indirectly, increase antitumor activity of intratumor effector T cells, either by overcoming tumor-induced tolerance or by overriding the immunosuppression mechanisms imposed during tumor development (see Table 5.1).

# 5.3.1 Strategies Targeting Homing of Effector T Cells

Some of the tumor immune escape mechanisms described above interfere with the proper trafficking of effector T cells from the peripheral circulation or secondary lymphoid organs to the tumor site. A reduced homing of these effector cells to the tumor will give rise to negative regulatory processes leading to tumor progression. Several strategies to block these processes and enhance intratumor homing of effector cells have been proven effective. These include local tumor irradiation, blockade of endothelin receptors, taxane-based chemotherapy, and antibodymediated targeting of effector CTLs.

#### 5.3.1.1 Local Tumor Irradiation

Local tumor irradiation has long been used as a curative treatment for localized cancer and isolated metastasis, but also as a palliative treatment in patients with widespread disease. Overall, more than 50% of cancer patients receive radiotherapy, often as adjuvant therapy, in association with other therapies such as surgery, hormonal therapy [167], chemotherapy, or bone marrow transplantation. Radiotherapy has been highly effective for certain malignancies, including prostate, endometrial, and cervical cancer. Recently, irradiation has come to the attention of tumor immunologists due to its immunogenic properties and potentially antimetastatic effects [168–174].

A major immunological effect of local tumor irradiation is the induction of cell death [175] that results in release of TAAs and danger signals, which attract immune cells to the tumor site, thus favoring antigen cross-presentation, improved DC function, and therefore enhanced antigenspecific T-cell priming [170, 176, 177]. Furthermore, it has recently been demonstrated that, after irradiation, the remaining cancer cells

Type of thereasy	Tongotod motherson	A 1 1 CC /		
Type of merapy	Targeted pathway	Achieved effect		
Local tumor irradiation	Antigen presentation and processing Release of tumor-associated antigens Production of proinflammatory cytokines and chemoattractants	Enhanced intratumor homing of effector CTLs <sup>a</sup>		
Endothelin receptor blockade	Restoration of ICAM-1 <sup>b</sup> expression			
Chemotherapy Taxanes	Inhibition of angiogenesis Induction of programmed cell death Antigen presentation and processing TAMs <sup>c</sup> cytotoxicity			
Ab-mediated targeting of CTLs <sup>a</sup>	Tumor and T-cell concomitant antigen binding			
Depletion/inactivation therapy MDSCs <sup>d</sup> Tregs <sup>e</sup> TAMs <sup>c</sup>	Inhibition of DNA replication Inhibition of tyrosine kinase signaling Enzyme inhibition Inhibition of angiogenesis	Enhanced activity of intratumor effector CTLs <sup>a</sup>		
Cytokine therapy IL-15 IL-7 IL-7 Blockade of negative factors Anti-CTLA-4 <sup>g</sup> (Ipilimumab) Anti-PD-1 <sup>h</sup> /anti-LAG3 <sup>i</sup> Anti-TGF $\beta^{j}$	T-cell growth factors DCs <sup>f</sup> activation Vaccine adjuvants Blockade of T-cell checkpoints Inhibition of receptor signaling Induction of T-cell activation Antigen-presenting cell activation			

Table 5.1 Types of immunotherapy aimed at targeting various mechanisms of tumor-induced immune suppression

<sup>a</sup>Cytotoxic T lymphocytes <sup>b</sup>Intercellular adhesion molecule 1 <sup>c</sup>Tumor-associated macrophages <sup>d</sup>Myeloid-derived suppressor cells <sup>e</sup>Regulatory T cells <sup>f</sup>Dendritic cells <sup>g</sup>Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein 4 <sup>h</sup>Programmed cell death protein 1 <sup>i</sup>Lymphocyte-activation gene 3

<sup>j</sup>Transforming growth factor beta

present high levels of co-stimulatory and MHC class I molecules that render them more immunostimulatory and susceptible to T-cell-mediated killing [178]. Other beneficial effects of local tumor irradiation involve the induction of proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and TGFβ [168, 179, 180]; expression of chemokines, like CXC-motif chemokines such as CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11, and CXCL16 that result in chemotaxis of T cells; and induction of adhesion molecules and death receptors that enhance CTL responses [181, 182]. These changes within the tumor microenvironment facilitate recruitment of effector T cells to tumors via two distinct mechanisms: first, by promoting vasculature normalization [183] and, second, by stimulating overexpression of endothelial adhesion molecules, such as vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) [169].

In the last decade, preclinical and human studies brought forward substantial clinical evidence that local tumor irradiation has the capacity to activate the immune system. Notably, combination of immunotherapies and radiation has been shown enhance antitumor responses. to Preclinical studies in tumor-bearing mice displayed that irradiation combined with PD-1 blockade increased overall survival and decreased Treg infiltration [184], when compared with anti-PD-1 treatment alone. Consistent to that combination of anti-PD-L1 antibody and irradiation resulted in substantial tumor regression, together with significant reduction of MDSCs within the tumors and increased CD8+ T-cell infiltration [185]. Currently, multiple clinical trials are evaluating anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 antibodies in combination with radiation for cancer treatment, but results are not yet published [186]. Additionally, after combination therapy of irradiation and CTLA-4 blockade [187], lung metastasis was inhibited in a mouse 4T1 primary mammary carcinoma. Recently, Vanpouille-Box et al. suggested that, in patients who did not respond to treatment with immune-checkpoint inhibitors, local tumor irradiation may induce tumor-specific CTLs [188]. Clinical studies of combination therapies with anti-CTLA-4 antibodies, such as ipilimumab, demonstrated tumor regression and improved overall survival, primarily in patients with melanoma but also with lymphoma, prostate, or renal cancer [189–194].

Taken together, these preclinical and clinical data illustrate that radiotherapy, alone or in combination with other therapies, effectively stimulates the immune system to fight tumor development. This occurs by facilitating antigen presentation and processing, causing the release of TAAs; increasing production of inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and receptors involved in recruitment of effector CTLs; and thus enhancing migration of these active effector CTLs to the tumor site.

### 5.3.1.2 Blockade of Endothelin Receptors

Various studies demonstrated that endothelial cells from a variety of human cancers overexpress the ET1 receptors. Blocking these receptors seems a promising strategy to delay tumor development or stop tumor cell proliferation. In a mouse HPV-induced cervical carcinoma model, blockade of ETAR caused inhibition of tumor growth [165], mediated by an increase in T-cell homing to the tumor site. Moreover, ICAM-1 downregulation, as an effect of ETBR interaction with ET1 [163], is rescued by administration of BQ-788, an ETBR small molecule inhibitor [149]. Neutralization of ETBR by administration of BQ-788, suppressed intercellular communication and growth of melanoma cells in nude mice [165] and significantly increased T cell homing to tumors [149, 163]. In fact, selective ETAR

blockade by atrasentan showed delayed progression of hormone-refractory prostate adenocarcinoma [195], enhanced the effect of paclitaxel/docetaxel treatment in prostate cancer [196], and increased the overall survival of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia B [197].

#### 5.3.1.3 Taxane-Based Chemotherapy

Conventional chemotherapy is considered to act through direct killing of tumor cells or by irreversible tumor growth arrest. Most chemotherapeutics interfere with cellular processes, such as DNA synthesis and replication, or lead to specific cell cycle arrest through microtubule disruption and apoptosis induction [198]. Originally, taxanes (e.g., paclitaxel, docetaxel) have been categorized as a class of chemotherapeutic drugs which block tumor development upon induction of mitotic inhibition through disruption of microtubule functionality. Other studies suggested additional antitumor mechanisms, such as binding to and blocking the functions of the antiapoptotic molecule Bcl-2 expressed on the surface of tumor cells, thus inducing programmed cell death [199]. More recently, the idea of chemotherapeutic agents, including taxanes, as enhancers of effector CTL homing into the tumor site came into place. The immunomodulatory effects of chemotherapy span both the innate and the adaptive immune systems, highlighting the enhanced potential of chemotherapy in combination with immunotherapy [198]. For example, treatment with the angiogenesis inhibitor paclitaxel resulted in an increased infiltration of circulating effector T cells into the tumor site, in a human xenograft mouse model [200]. Additionally, paclitaxel therapy is associated with tumor regression through direct stimulation of TAM cytotoxicity [201] or indirect activation of DCs, NK, and tumorspecific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells via IL-12, TNF- $\alpha$ , and iNOS secretion by TAMs [202]. Taxanes also promote antigen presentation in murine bone marrow (BM)-DCs and human monocytederived DCs (moDCS) in vitro via upregulation of costimulatory molecules and IL-12p70 [203, 204]. Additionally, paclitaxel specifically impairs the viability and the cytokine production of FOXP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs [205]. On the other hand,

docetaxel induces maturation of DCs in vitro [206] and selective killing of MDSCs in vitro and in vivo [207, 208].

### 5.3.1.4 Antibody-Mediated Targeting of Effector CTLs

Monoclonal antibody therapy is a method commonly used to functionally inactivate or deplete suppressive immune populations such as MDSCs or Tregs, as discussed below. However, various studies using bispecific monoclonal antibodies suggest that they can also exhibit antitumor therapeutic potential. These antibodies are artificial proteins composed of fragments of two distinct monoclonal antibodies that can bind to two different types of antigens. In cancer immunotherapies, they are engineered to simultaneously bind to a CTL and a tumor cell. Several examples include engagement of CD3, CD28, or CD137 receptors [209] on the T cells and various tumor cell markers, such as epithelial adhesion molecule, and human epidermal growth factor receptor expressed on the tumor cell [210]. Different studies have shown the therapeutic potency of these strategies in vitro [211] and in vivo [209, 210, 212-214].

# 5.3.2 Strategies Targeting the Activity of Effector T Cells

Enhancing intratumor homing of immune effector cells will most likely not be sufficient for an effective tumor control, as cells that migrate to the tumor site are often anergic or dysfunctional. As addressed above, multiple mechanisms within the tumor microenvironment, involving a diversity of immunosuppressive cell populations (e.g., MDSCs, TAMs or Tregs), negative regulatory factors (e.g., CTLA-4, PD-1, PDL-1), as well as cytokines and enzymes (e.g., TGF- $\beta$  and IDO), have been implicated in generating this immune suppressive tumor microenvironment.

To increase the efficacy of immunotherapies and rationally develop novel strategies which enhance the activity of intratumor effector T cells, both inhibition of tolerance mechanisms and restriction of tumor-induced immune suppression should be targeted. To effectively target the above-described negative regulatory mechanisms, several strategies have been studied. An overview of the immunotherapeutic interventions that are most widely studied preclinically as well as in clinical trials will be addressed.

# 5.3.2.1 Circumventing Activity of Suppressive Immune Populations: Depletion or Inactivation Therapy

One commonly used mechanism to target innate as well as adaptive antitumor immunity is manipulation of the immune suppressive functions of MDSCs, Tregs, or TAMs. A more intrusive alternative, however extremely efficient, is depletion of suppressive immune populations. Different depletion methods, with specificity for the targeted immune population at hand, have been developed.

There are several ways to specifically target and deplete intratumoral MDSCs [215]. Studies using an engineered RNA aptamer that targets IL4 receptor alpha (IL4R $\alpha$ ), upregulated on MDSCs of tumor-bearing mice, showed delayed tumor growth, enhanced T-cell infiltration, and MDSC apoptosis [216, 217]. This strategy may have promising results, since ILRa expression is also elevated in MDSCs in human tumors [218]. Another way to deplete MDSCs is with broadspectrum tyrosine kinase inhibitors, such as sunitinib [219]. In the TC-1 cervical cancer mouse model, combinations of sunitinib with a cancer vaccine targeting tumor cells expressing the E6,7 oncoproteins of HPV, resulted in MDSC depletion and led to enhanced E7-specific CTL frequencies and subsequent tumor eradication [220]. Consistent to this, sunitinib also induced reversal of Treg elevation, significant reduction of IL4 production, and increased frequencies of IFN-yproducing T cells [219, 221]. Sunitinib is capable of inducing selective MDSC apoptosis, up to 50%, in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma, thus representing one of the most promising drugs for reducing tumor-induced immune suppression [219, 222]. Treatment with chemotherapeutic agents and cytostatic drugs such as 5-fluorouracil [223, 224] or gemcitabine [225, 226], as well as novel strategies, like peptibodies [227], have also been described to deplete MDSCs.

Another immune suppressive population that has been intensively targeted for improving antitumor responses is Tregs. To date, several methods to deplete Tregs have been developed. Depletion of CD4+CD25+ Tregs by monoclonal antibody therapy has been achieved in both tumor-bearing mice as well as in clinical trials [228, 229]. Selective depletion of FoxP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs in transgenic DEREG (depletion of regulatory T cells) mice, in combination with therapeutic immunization against melanoma, greatly enhanced the antitumor effect [230]. However, the potency of a combination of immunization and Treg depletion depends not only on the involvement of Tregs in the tumor model studied but also on the level of Treg induction or activation in the immunization strategy. For example, depletion of Tregs by treatment with an antifolate receptor 4 antibody did not enhance the immune response induced by immunization with the recombinant viral vector vaccine Semliki Forest virus encoding for the early HPV viral proteins E6 and E7 (SFVeE6,7) in a mouse model of cervical carcinoma [231]. In the clinical setting, a potent method to deplete Tregs by targeting their high CD25 expression is by employing the immunotoxin denileukin diftitox (Ontak<sup>TM</sup> Ligand Pharmaceuticals), which is approved for clinical use in the treatment of cutaneous T-cell lymphoma [232]. In combination with immunization, it has also been used for treatment of other types of tumors [233]. Daclizumab (Hoffman-La Roche) is another anti-CD25 agent, previously used in patients with T-cell leukemia [234] and, more recently, in combination with a peptide vaccine for treatment of metastatic breast cancer [235] and ovarian cancer [236]. However, anti-CD25 antibodies can also target activated CD25<sup>+</sup> effector T cells. Alternatives that circumvent this disadvantage are the use of novel antibodies with human specificity such as anti-glucocorticoidinduced TNF receptor antibodies, or low doses of Treg-depleting cyclophosphamide [237].

Regarding TAMs, selective depletion can be achieved by different approaches, such as

blockade of TAM chemoattractant chemokines (e.g., blockade of CCL-2 with the inhibitor molecule bindarit [238] or immunization with a legumain-based minigene DNA vaccine [239]). Notably, the most efficient depletion method in animal models involves the usage of clodronate liposomes. Clodronate liposomes are artificial spheres formed by dispersion of phospholipid molecules into an aqueous solution of clodronate bisphosphonate. Intraperitoneal or subcutaneous administration of clodronate liposomes induced efficient depletion (75-92%) of TAMs in different murine tumor models [240–244]. Furthermore, selective depletion of TAMs is promoted by IL-15 and or TGF- $\alpha$  in human primary colorectal adenocarcinomas [245]. In other studies, IL-15 has been shown to reverse T-cell anergy and to rescue the tolerant phenotype of CD8+ T cells [246]. Several other pharmacological drugs, such as zoledronic acid and sorafenib, may also deplete TAMs and enhance the antitumor responses [247]. Yet it should be noted that nonselective depletion of TAMs also results in the depletion of tumoricidal macrophages, whereby any beneficial effect can be counteracted. Novel strategies that repolarize the protumoral M2-like TAMs to cytotoxic M1-like macrophages should be considered.

### 5.3.2.2 Immunostimulatory Cytokines: Cytokine Therapy

In addition to the above-discussed IL-15, various other cytokines are viewed as promising immunerestorative drugs. IL-7, a survival cytokine crucial for T-cell development in the thymus and survival of naïve and memory T-cell homeostasis in the peripheral tissues [248], increases the numbers of peripheral CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in patients [249, 250]. IL-12, a cytokine naturally produced by DCs, is a potent immune adjuvant promoting IFN-y release from immune cells and thus inducing Th1 polarization and proliferation of antitumor effector T cells [251], with encouraging results in preclinical studies on diverse mouse tumor models, including thyroid cancer, bladder cancer, metastatic breast carcinoma, and glioma [252–254].

# 5.3.2.3 Blockade of Negative Regulatory Factors: Antibody Therapy

Antibody therapy against developing tumors has been employed in the clinics for many years and belongs to the category of "molecular targeted therapy" of cancer. Despite the emergence of a large palette of anticancer monoclonal humanized or chimeric antibodies (MABs), only a small number are approved for patient use by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Among them, trastuzumab (Herceptin) is a humanized MAB targeting ERGR activity, specific for HER-2/neupositive breast cancer and metastatic gastrointestinal cancers [255-257]. Another successful example of MABs is Rituximab (Rituxan), a human/murine MAB targeting CD20 for B-cell lymphoma, lymphocytic leukemia, but also autoimmune diseases [258, 259]. Due to their low toxicity profile and capacity to activate several distinct host effector mechanisms [260], these monoclonal antibodies are seen as very promising anticancer drugs. The mechanisms mainly employed by these antibodies are direct interference with tumor cell progression and cellmediated cytotoxicity by ligation of Fc receptors expressed on the surface of different immune cells [261].

The blockade of PD-1/PD-L1 interaction by several immune checkpoint inhibitors is currently being used for a wide range of solid and nonsolid cancers [262] and has so far exhibited durable responses without serious toxicity in the majority of treated patients. The magnitude of clinical responses achieved with checkpoint inhibitor therapy implies that patients can have preexisting tumor-specific T cells that can be reactivated by blocking the PD-1/PD-L1 interaction. Another antibody that has been approved for treatment of late stage melanoma is ipilimumab (Yervoy), a human monoclonal antibody directed against the CTLA-4 expressed on activated T cells, as discussed above. Due to its capacity to inhibit this negative signaling pathway and contribute to restoration of the antitumor antigenspecific immune response, anti-CTLA4 is nowadays used as a novel therapy for solid tumors [15]. Recently, PD-1 blockade has been

shown to increase the induction of effector T cells in the spleen, prolong T-cell proliferation, and enhance recruitment of effector T cells to tumor sites. In multimodality therapy regimens, PD-1 blockade increased therapeutic efficacy of total body irradiation and DC transfer therapy [263]. Also, antibody blockade of LAG-3 in two murine models of self and tumor-tolerance increased the accumulation and effector function of antigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells [264]. Thus, combination of MAB therapy against PD-1 or LAG-3 with immunization strategies has been recently demonstrated to restore the functions of tolerized antigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells [265]. Several clinical trials are currently ongoing to evaluate responses in patients with cancer following anti-PD-L1 treatment [266-269]. Several approaches have been employed to induce high avidity effector T cells in an attempt to target the inhibition of tumor-induced tolerance. One such approach involves blockade of TGF-\beta-induced signaling that has pleiotropic functions in tumor initiation, development, and metastasis. Since cancer cells display dysregulated TGF-ß signaling, TGF- $\beta$  inhibitors act on TGF- $\beta$ -responsive cells (e.g., fibroblastic, endothelial, and immune cells) in the tumor microenvironment. In a xenograft mouse model of prostate cancer, transfer of tumor-reactive, TGF-β-insensitive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells led to a 50% decrease in average tumor weight, when compared with tumors of mice which underwent transfer of naïve CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells [270]. Also, monoclonal antibodies against TGF-β, which are nowadays evaluated in clinical trials, seem to be very promising antitumor candidates as they present little systemic toxicity [271]. Clinical results of TGF- $\beta$  inhibition in a phase II study performed in hepatocellular carcinoma patients are promising [272]. Additionally, radiotherapy and chemotherapy can induce TGF-β and combined TGF- $\beta$  inhibition activity, enhances tumor sensitivity to chemotherapy and radiotherapy [273]. Another approach aimed at manipulating TGF- $\beta$  to improve antitumor immune responses involves generation of TGF- $\beta$ -insensitive DC vaccines. Transduced DCs, which have been rendered insensitive to TGF- $\beta$ , maintain their normal phenotype, present

upregulated expression of surface co-stimulatory molecules (CD80/CD86), and induce potent tumor-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses in vivo [274].

Another target for antibody therapy is the costimulatory molecule CD40 expressed on various APCs and tumor cells. CD40 binds to CD40L expressed on T helper cells, resulting in APC activation as indicated by HLA classs II upregulation and IL-2 production [275, 276]. Agonistic antibodies against CD40 and/or CD40L tested in clinical trials seem to have a promising therapeutic potential [277].

# 5.4 Concluding Remarks

In the last few decades, major progress has been achieved within the field of cancer immunotherapy, highlighting the underlying therapeutic potential. However, despite the clinical success of antibody therapies against immune checkpoints, especially in the context of CTLA-4 and PD-1/PD-L1 axis blockade, still only a subset of patients shows sustained responses. This illustrates the complexity of tumor immunity and the interplay between antitumor responses, immune tolerance, and immune suppression within the tumor microenvironment. For cancer immunotherapy to be effective, sufficient homing and activation of antigen-specific immune effector cells in the tumor and suppression of immunesuppressive mechanisms is pivotal. This calls for multimodality treatment regimens to achieve long-term tumor regression. A desirable, highly effective immunization strategy should therefore accomplish two purposes. On the one hand, it should aim at increasing both the recruitment of antigen-specific effector T cells to the tumor site and their intratumor arrest for the time necessary to exert their antitumor activity. For this purpose, combinations of immunization regimens with ways to enhance homing of immune effector cells to the tumor site, such as local tumor irradiation, endothelin B receptor blockade, antibody-mediated targeting of effector CTLs, or taxane-based chemotherapy, could be promising strategies. On the other hand, only targeting the homing of vaccine-induced effector T cells to the tumor site might not be enough. We may speculate that once these cells have reached the tumor, they can be anergized or tolerized by diverse immune-suppressive mechanisms developed by the tumor itself or by secondary immune-suppressive populations. To counteract this effect, strategies that aim at maintaining or potentiating the activity of these intratumor antigen-specific effector T cells, such as depletion or functional inhibition of immune-suppressive populations, or blockade of negative regulatory factors are necessary.

Concluding, the development of new multimodality strategies in which immunization therapies are combined with effective antitumor immunological or conventional approaches aimed at increasing homing of immune effector cells to tumors and their intratumor activity is of crucial importance and represents the next step forward in cancer immunotherapy.

# References

- Ehrlich P. Ueber der jetzigen stand der Karzinomforschung. Ned Tijdschr Geneesksd. 1909;5:273–90.
- 2. Burnet FM. The concept of immunological surveillance. Prog Exp Tumor Res. 1970;13:1–27.
- Whiteside TL. Immune responses to malignancies. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010;125:S272–83.
- Ribatti D. The concept of immune surveillance against tumors. The first theories. Oncotarget. 2017;8:7175–80.
- Sahin U, Türeci O, Pfreundschuh M. Serological identification of human tumor antigens. Curr Opin Immunol. 1997;9:709–16.
- Lu Y-C, Yao X, Crystal JS, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Gross C, et al. Efficient identification of mutated cancer antigens recognized by T cells associated with durable tumor regressions. Clin Cancer Res. 2014;20:3401–10.
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. Nat Immunol. 2002;3:991–8.
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Sheehan KCF, Shankaran V, Uppaluri R, Bui JD, et al. A critical function for type I interferons in cancer immunoediting. Nat Immunol. 2005;6:722–9.
- Kim R, Emi M, Tanabe K. Cancer immunoediting from immune surveillance to immune escape. Immunology. 2007;121:1–14.

- Mittal D, Gubin MM, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. New insights into cancer immunoediting and its three component phases—elimination, equilibrium and escape. Curr Opin Immunol. 2014;27:16–25.
- Beatty GL, Gladney WL. Immune escape mechanisms as a guide for cancer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21:687–92.
- Rabinovich GA, Gabrilovich D, Sotomayor EM. Immunosuppressive strategies that are mediated by tumor cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2007;25:267–96.
- Whiteside TL. The tumor microenvironment and its role in promoting tumor growth. Oncogene. 2008;27:5904–12.
- Munn DH, Bronte V. Immune suppressive mechanisms in the tumor microenvironment. Curr Opin Immunol. 2016;39:1–6.
- Gurusamy D, Clever D, Eil R, Restifo NP. Novel elements of immune suppression within the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Immunol Res. 2017;5:426–33.
- Couzin-Frankel J. Breakthrough of the year 2013. Cancer immunotherapy. Science. 2013;342:1432–3.
- Sadun RE, Sachsman SM, Chen X, Christenson KW, Morris WZ, Hu P, et al. Immune signatures of murine and human cancers reveal unique mechanisms of tumor escape and new targets for cancer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:4016–25.
- Yuan J, Hegde PS, Clynes R, Foukas PG, Harari A, Kleen TO, et al. Novel technologies and emerging biomarkers for personalized cancer immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2016;4:3.
- Kakimi K, Karasaki T, Matsushita H, Sugie T. Advances in personalized cancer immunotherapy. Breast Cancer. 2017;24:16–24.
- Dunn GP, Koebel CM, Schreiber RD. Interferons, immunity and cancer immunoediting. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6:836–48.
- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science. 2011;331:1565–70.
- Nagaraj S, Schrum AG, Cho H-I, Celis E, Gabrilovich DI. Mechanism of T cell tolerance induced by myeloid-derived suppressor cells. J Immunol. 2010;184:3106–16.
- Li MO, Wan YY, Sanjabi S, Robertson A-KL, Flavell RA. Transforming growth factor-β regulation of immune responses. Annu Rev Immunol. 2006;24:99–146.
- Schoenborn JR, Wilson CB. Regulation of interferon-gamma during innate and adaptive immune responses. Adv Immunol. 2007;96:41–101.
- 25. Demeure CE, Yang LP, Byun DG, Ishihara H, Vezzio N, Delespesse G. Human naive CD4 T cells produce interleukin-4 at priming and acquire a Th2 phenotype upon repetitive stimulations in neutral conditions. Eur J Immunol. 1995;25:2722–5.
- Peter ME, Hadji A, Murmann AE, Brockway S, Putzbach W, Pattanayak A, et al. The role of CD95

and CD95 ligand in cancer. Cell Death Differ. 2015;22:549–59.

- 27. Yang F, Wei Y, Cai Z, Yu L, Jiang L, Zhang C, et al. Activated cytotoxic lymphocytes promote tumor progression by increasing the ability of 3LL tumor cells to mediate MDSC chemoattraction via Fas signaling. Cell Mol Immunol. 2015;12:66–76.
- Thomas DA, Massagué J. TGF-beta directly targets cytotoxic T cell functions during tumor evasion of immune surveillance. Cancer Cell. 2005;8:369–80.
- Munn DH, Sharma MD, Johnson TS, Rodriguez P. IDO, PTEN-expressing Tregs and control of antigen-presentation in the murine tumor microenvironment. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2017;66:1049–58.
- Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Nussenzweig MC. Tolerogenic dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2003;21:685–711.
- Gabrilovich D. Mechanisms and functional significance of tumour-induced dendritic-cell defects. Nat Rev Immunol. 2004;4:941–52.
- Herber DL, Cao W, Nefedova Y, Novitskiy SV, Nagaraj S, Tyurin VA, et al. Lipid accumulation and dendritic cell dysfunction in cancer. Nat Med. 2010;16:880–6.
- Gabrilovich DI, Ciernik IF, Carbone DP. Dendritic cells in antitumor immune responses. Defective antigen presentation in tumor-bearing hosts. Cell Immunol. 1996;170:101–10.
- 34. Ciavarra RP, Holterman DA, Brown RR, Mangiotti P, Yousefieh N, Wright GL, et al. Prostate tumor microenvironment alters immune cells and prevents long-term survival in an orthotopic mouse model following flt3-ligand/CD40-ligand immunotherapy. J Immunother. 2004;27:13–26.
- 35. Gabrilovich DI, Corak J, Ciernik IF, Kavanaugh D, Carbone DP. Decreased antigen presentation by dendritic cells in patients with breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 1997;3:483–90.
- Coventry BJ, Lee P-L, Gibbs D, Hart DNJ. Dendritic cell density and activation status in human breast cancer—CD1a, CMRF-44, CMRF-56 and CD-83 expression. Br J Cancer. 2002;86:546–51.
- 37. Fiore F, Von Bergwelt-Baildon MS, Drebber U, Beyer M, Popov A, Manzke O, et al. Dendritic cells are significantly reduced in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and express less CCR7 and CD62L. Leuk Lymphoma. 2006;47:613–22.
- 38. Garrity T, Pandit R, Wright MA, Benefield J, Keni S, Young MR. Increased presence of CD34+ cells in the peripheral blood of head and neck cancer patients and their differentiation into dendritic cells. Int J Cancer. 1997;73:663–9.
- Schwaab T, Schned AR, Heaney JA, Cole BF, Atzpodien J, Wittke F, et al. In vivo description of dendritic cells in human renal cell carcinoma. J Urol. 1999;162:567–73.
- Onishi H, Morisaki T, Baba E, Kuga H, Kuroki H, Matsumoto K, et al. Dysfunctional and short-lived subsets in monocyte-derived dendritic cells from

patients with advanced cancer. Clin Immunol. 2002;105:286–95.

- 41. Lang S, Atarashi Y, Nishioka Y, Stanson J, Meidenbauer N, Whiteside TL. B7.1 on human carcinomas: costimulation of T cells and enhanced tumor-induced T-cell death. Cell Immunol. 2000;201:132–43.
- Harding FA, McArthur JG, Gross JA, Raulet DH, Allison JP. CD28-mediated signalling co-stimulates murine T cells and prevents induction of anergy in T-cell clones. Nature. 1992;356:607–9.
- 43. von Bergwelt-Baildon MS, Popov A, Saric T, Chemnitz J, Classen S, Stoffel MS, et al. CD25 and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase are up-regulated by prostaglandin E2 and expressed by tumor-associated dendritic cells in vivo: additional mechanisms of T-cell inhibition. Blood. 2006;108:228–37.
- 44. Khong HT, Wang QJ, Rosenberg SA. Identification of multiple antigens recognized by tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes from a single patient: tumor escape by antigen loss and loss of MHC expression. J Immunother. 2004;27:184–90.
- Olson BM, McNeel DG. Antigen loss and tumormediated immunosuppression facilitate tumor recurrence. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2012;11:1315–7.
- 46. Monjazeb AM, Zamora AE, Grossenbacher SK, Mirsoian A, Sckisel GD, Murphy WJ. Immunoediting and antigen loss: overcoming the Achilles heel of immunotherapy with antigen nonspecific therapies. Front Oncol. 2013;3:197.
- 47. Ito S, Okano S, Morita M, Saeki H, Tsutsumi S, Tsukihara H, et al. Expression of PD-L1 and HLA class I in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma: prognostic factors for patient outcome. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:508–15.
- 48. Kikuchi E, Yamazaki K, Torigoe T, Cho Y, Miyamoto M, Oizumi S, et al. HLA class I antigen expression is associated with a favorable prognosis in early stage non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Sci. 2007;98:1424–30.
- Iwayama Y, Tsuruma T, Mizuguchi T, Furuhata T, Toyota N, Matsumura M, et al. Prognostic value of HLA class I expression in patients with colorectal cancer. World J Surg Oncol. 2015;13:36.
- 50. Perea F, Bernal M, Sánchez-Palencia A, Carretero J, Torres C, Bayarri C, et al. The absence of HLA class I expression in non-small cell lung cancer correlates with the tumor tissue structure and the pattern of T cell infiltration. Int J Cancer. 2017;140:888–99.
- Torres LM, Cabrera T, Concha A, Oliva MR, Ruiz-Cabello F, Garrido F. HLA class I expression and HPV-16 sequences in premalignant and malignant lesions of the cervix. Tissue Antigens. 1993;41:65–71.
- 52. Pedersen MH, Hood BL, Beck HC, Conrads TP, Ditzel HJ, Leth-Larsen R. Downregulation of antigen presentation-associated pathway proteins is linked to poor outcome in triple-negative breast cancer patient tumors. Onco Targets Ther. 2017;6:e1305531.

- Campoli M, Chang C-C, Ferrone S. HLA class I antigen loss, tumor immune escape and immune selection. Vaccine. 2002;20(Suppl 4):A40–5.
- del Campo AB, Carretero J, Aptsiauri N, Garrido F. Targeting HLA class I expression to increase tumor immunogenicity. Tissue Antigens. 2012;79:147–54.
- Koontongkaew S. The tumor microenvironment contribution to development, growth, invasion and metastasis of head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. J Cancer. 2013;4:66–83.
- Worthley DL, Giraud AS, Wang TC. Stromal fibroblasts in digestive cancer. Cancer Microenviron. 2010;3:117–25.
- Gonda TA, Varro A, Wang TC, Tycko B. Molecular biology of cancer-associated fibroblasts: can these cells be targeted in anti-cancer therapy? Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2010;21:2–10.
- Shiga K, Hara M, Nagasaki T, Sato T, Takahashi H, Takeyama H. Cancer-associated fibroblasts: Their characteristics and their roles in tumor growth. Cancers (Basel). 2015;7:2443–58.
- 59. Wikberg ML, Edin S, Lundberg IV, Van Guelpen B, Dahlin AM, Rutegård J, et al. High intratumoral expression of fibroblast activation protein (FAP) in colon cancer is associated with poorer patient prognosis. Tumor Biol. 2013;34:1013–20.
- Liu Y, Hu T, Shen J, Li SF, Lin JW, Zheng XH, et al. Separation, cultivation and biological characteristics of oral carcinoma-associated fibroblasts. Oral Dis. 2006;12:375–80.
- 61. Orimo A, Gupta PB, Sgroi DC, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Delaunay T, Naeem R, et al. Stromal fibroblasts present in invasive human breast carcinomas promote tumor growth and angiogenesis through elevated SDF-1/CXCL12 secretion. Cell. 2005;121:335–48.
- 62. Bhowmick NA, Chytil A, Plieth D, Gorska AE, Dumont N, Shappell S, et al. TGF-beta signaling in fibroblasts modulates the oncogenic potential of adjacent epithelia. Science. 2004;303:848–51.
- 63. Eck SM, Côté AL, Winkelman WD, Brinckerhoff CE. CXCR4 and matrix metalloproteinase-1 are elevated in breast carcinoma-associated fibroblasts and in normal mammary fibroblasts exposed to factors secreted by breast cancer cells. Mol Cancer Res. 2009;7:1033–44.
- Madar S, Goldstein I, Rotter V. Cancer associated fibroblasts'--more than meets the eye. Trends Mol Med. 2013;19:447–53.
- 65. Hwang RF, Moore T, Arumugam T, Ramachandran V, Amos KD, Rivera A, et al. Cancer-associated stromal fibroblasts promote pancreatic tumor progression. Cancer Res. 2008;68:918–26.
- 66. Johansson A-C, Ansell A, Jerhammar F, Lindh MB, Grénman R, Munck-Wikland E, et al. Cancer-associated fibroblasts induce matrix metalloproteinase-mediated cetuximab resistance in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells. Mol Cancer Res. 2012;10:1158–68.
- 67. Ochoa AC, Zea AH, Hernandez C, Rodriguez PC. Arginase, prostaglandins, and myeloid-derived

suppressor cells in renal cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:721s–6s.

- Peranzoni E, Zilio S, Marigo I, Dolcetti L, Zanovello P, Mandruzzato S, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cell heterogeneity and subset definition. Curr Opin Immunol. 2010;22:238–44.
- Kumar V, Patel S, Tcyganov E, Gabrilovich DI. The nature of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment. Trends Immunol. 2016;37:208–20.
- Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9:162–74.
- Almand B, Clark JI, Nikitina E, van Beynen J, English NR, Knight SC, et al. Increased production of immature myeloid cells in cancer patients: a mechanism of immunosuppression in cancer. J Immunol. 2001;166:678–89.
- Gabrilovich DI, Bronte V, Chen S-H, Colombo MP, Ochoa A, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, et al. The terminology issue for myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Cancer Res. 2007;67:425.
- Qian B-Z, Li J, Zhang H, Kitamura T, Zhang J, Campion LR, et al. CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis. Nature. 2011;475:222–5.
- Youn J-I, Collazo M, Shalova IN, Biswas SK, Gabrilovich DI. Characterization of the nature of granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. J Leukoc Biol. 2012;91:167–81.
- 75. Yu J, Du W, Yan F, Wang Y, Li H, Cao S, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells suppress antitumor immune responses through IDO expression and correlate with lymph node metastasis in patients with breast cancer. J Immunol. 2013;190:3783–97.
- Kusmartsev S, Nefedova Y, Yoder D, Gabrilovich DI. Antigen-specific inhibition of CD8+ T cell response by immature myeloid cells in cancer is mediated by reactive oxygen species. J Immunol. 2004;172:989–99.
- Goñi O, Alcaide P, Fresno M. Immunosuppression during acute Trypanosoma cruzi infection: involvement of Ly6G (Gr1(+))CD11b(+)immature myeloid suppressor cells. Int Immunol. 2002;14:1125–34.
- Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Sinha P. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: linking inflammation and cancer. J Immunol. 2009;182:4499–506.
- Harari O, Liao JK. Inhibition of MHC II gene transcription by nitric oxide and antioxidants. Curr Pharm Des. 2004;10:893–8.
- Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L, Alvarez X, Cheng P, Mottram P, et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. Nat Med. 2004;10:942–9.
- Sasada T, Kimura M, Yoshida Y, Kanai M, Takabayashi A. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in patients with gastrointestinal malignancies: possible involvement of regulatory T cells in disease progression. Cancer. 2003;98:1089–99.

- Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. Science. 2003;299:1057–61.
- Tanchot C, Terme M, Pere H, Tran T, Benhamouda N, Strioga M, et al. Tumor-infiltrating regulatory T cells: phenotype, role, mechanism of expansion in situ and clinical significance. Cancer Microenviron. 2013;6:147–57.
- Campbell DJ, Koch MA. Phenotypical and functional specialization of FOXP3+ regulatory T cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11:119–30.
- 85. Strauss L, Bergmann C, Szczepanski M, Gooding W, Johnson JT, Whiteside TL. A unique subset of CD4+CD25highFoxp3+ T cells secreting interleukin-10 and transforming growth factor-beta1 mediates suppression in the tumor microenvironment. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:4345–54.
- Pandiyan P, Zheng L, Ishihara S, Reed J, Lenardo MJ. CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induce cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis of effector CD4+ T cells. Nat Immunol. 2007;8:1353–62.
- Bingle L, Brown NJ, Lewis CE. The role of tumourassociated macrophages in tumour progression: implications for new anticancer therapies. J Pathol. 2002;196:254–65.
- Kowalczyk A, D'Souza CA, Zhang L. Cell-extrinsic CTLA4-mediated regulation of dendritic cell maturation depends on STAT3. Eur J Immunol. 2014;44:1143–55.
- Vignali DAA, Collison LW, Workman CJ. How regulatory T cells work. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8:523–32.
- Quail DF, Joyce JA. Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. Nat Med. 2013;19:1423–37.
- Yang L, Zhang Y. Tumor-associated macrophages: from basic research to clinical application. J Hematol Oncol. 2017;10:58.
- Gordon S. Alternative activation of macrophages. Nat Rev Immunol. 2003;3:23–35.
- Murdoch C, Giannoudis A, Lewis CE. Mechanisms regulating the recruitment of macrophages into hypoxic areas of tumors and other ischemic tissues. Blood. 2004;104:2224–34.
- Bergers G, Coussens LM. Extrinsic regulators of epithelial tumor progression: metalloproteinases. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2000;10:120–7.
- Lucas T, Abraham D, Aharinejad S. Modulation of tumor associated macrophages in solid tumors. Front Biosci. 2008;13:5580–8.
- Henze A-T, Mazzone M. The impact of hypoxia on tumor-associated macrophages. J Clin Invest. 2016;126:3672–9.
- 97. Ohno S, Ohno Y, Suzuki N, Kamei T, Koike K, Inagawa H, et al. Correlation of histological localization of tumor-associated macrophages with clinicopathological features in endometrial cancer. Anticancer Res. 2004;24(5C):3335–42.
- 98. Casazza A, Laoui D, Wenes M, Rizzolio S, Bassani N, Mambretti M, et al. Impeding macrophage entry

into hypoxic tumor areas by Sema3A/Nrp1 signaling blockade inhibits angiogenesis and restores antitumor immunity. Cancer Cell. 2013;24:695–709.

- 99. Pyonteck SM, Akkari L, Schuhmacher AJ, Bowman RL, Sevenich L, Quail DF, et al. CSF-1R inhibition alters macrophage polarization and blocks glioma progression. Nat Med. 2013;19:1264–72.
- Carmona-Fontaine C, Deforet M, Akkari L, Thompson CB, Joyce JA, Xavier JB. Metabolic origins of spatial organization in the tumor microenvironment. Proc Natl Acad Sci. 2017;114:2934–9.
- 101. Colegio OR, Chu N-Q, Szabo AL, Chu T, Rhebergen AM, Jairam V, et al. Functional polarization of tumour-associated macrophages by tumour-derived lactic acid. Nature. 2014;513:559–63.
- 102. Penny HL, Sieow JL, Adriani G, Yeap WH, See Chi Ee P, San Luis B, et al. Warburg metabolism in tumor-conditioned macrophages promotes metastasis in human pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Onco Targets Ther. 2016;5:e1191731.
- 103. Wenes M, Shang M, Di Matteo M, Goveia J, Martín-Pérez R, Serneels J, et al. Macrophage metabolism controls tumor blood vessel morphogenesis and metastasis. Cell Metab. 2016;24:701–15.
- 104. Kryczek I, Zou L, Rodriguez P, Zhu G, Wei S, Mottram P, et al. B7-H4 expression identifies a novel suppressive macrophage population in human ovarian carcinoma. J Exp Med. 2006;203:871–81.
- 105. Gordon SR, Maute RL, Dulken BW, Hutter G, George BM, McCracken MN, et al. PD-1 expression by tumour-associated macrophages inhibits phagocytosis and tumour immunity. Nature. 2017;545:495–9.
- 106. Lepique AP, Daghastanli KRP, Cuccovia IM, Villa LL. HPV16 tumor associated macrophages suppress antitumor T cell responses. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:4391–400.
- 107. Bolpetti A, Silva JS, Villa LL, Lepique A. Interleukin-10 production by tumor infiltrating macrophages plays a role in human papillomavirus 16 tumor growth. BMC Immunol. 2010;11:27.
- Donkor MK, Sarkar A, Li MO. TGF-β1 produced by activated CD4(+) T cells antagonizes t cell surveillance of tumor development. Onco Targets Ther. 2012;1:162–71.
- Whiteside TL. What are regulatory T cells (Treg) regulating in cancer and why? Semin Cancer Biol. 2012;22:327–34.
- 110. Bayne LJ, Beatty GL, Jhala N, Clark CE, Rhim AD, Stanger BZ, et al. Tumor-derived granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor regulates myeloid inflammation and T cell immunity in pancreatic cancer. Cancer Cell. 2012;21:822–35.
- 111. Kohanbash G, McKaveney K, Sakaki M, Ueda R, Mintz AH, Amankulor N, et al. GM-CSF promotes the immunosuppressive activity of gliomainfiltrating myeloid cells through interleukin-4 receptor-α. Cancer Res. 2013;73:6413–23.
- 112. Lutz MB, Suri RM, Niimi M, Ogilvie AL, Kukutsch NA, Rössner S, et al. Immature dendritic cells gen-

erated with low doses of GM-CSF in the absence of IL-4 are maturation resistant and prolong allograft survival in vivo. Eur J Immunol. 2000;30:1813–22.

- Nemunaitis J. GVAX (GMCSF gene modified tumor vaccine) in advanced stage non small cell lung cancer. J Control Release. 2003;91:225–31.
- 114. Valdembri D, Serini G, Vacca A, Ribatti D, Bussolino F. In vivo activation of JAK2/STAT-3 pathway during angiogenesis induced by GM-CSF. FASEB J. 2002;16:225–7.
- 115. Wölfle SJ, Strebovsky J, Bartz H, Sähr A, Arnold C, Kaiser C, et al. PD-L1 expression on tolerogenic APCs is controlled by STAT-3. Eur J Immunol. 2011;41:413–24.
- 116. Yu J, Wang Y, Yan F, Zhang P, Li H, Zhao H, et al. Noncanonical NF-κB activation mediates STAT3stimulated IDO upregulation in myeloid-derived suppressor cells in breast cancer. J Immunol. 2014;193:2574–86.
- Munn DH. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, tumorinduced tolerance and counter-regulation. Curr Opin Immunol. 2006;18:220–5.
- 118. Obermajer N, Muthuswamy R, Lesnock J, Edwards RP, Kalinski P. Positive feedback between PGE2 and COX2 redirects the differentiation of human dendritic cells toward stable myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Blood. 2011;118:5498–505.
- 119. Topalian SL, Drake CG, Pardoll DM. Immune checkpoint blockade: a common denominator approach to cancer therapy. Cancer Cell. 2015;27:450–61.
- Mellman I, Coukos G, Dranoff G. Cancer immunotherapy comes of age. Nature. 2011;480:480–9.
- 121. Sharma P, Allison JP. Immune checkpoint targeting in cancer therapy: toward combination strategies with curative potential. Cell. 2015;161:205–14.
- Pauken KE, Wherry EJ. Overcoming T cell exhaustion in infection and cancer. Trends Immunol. 2015;36:265–76.
- 123. Wherry EJ. T cell exhaustion. Nat Immunol. 2011;12:492–9.
- 124. Gandini S, Massi D, Mandalà M. PD-L1 expression in cancer patients receiving anti PD-1/PD-L1 antibodies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2016;100:88–98.
- 125. Anderson AC. Tim-3: an emerging target in the cancer immunotherapy landscape. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014;2:393–8.
- 126. Baksh K, Weber J. Immune checkpoint protein inhibition for cancer: preclinical justification for CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade and new combinations. Semin Oncol. 2015;42:363–77.
- 127. Moreno-Cubero E, Larrubia J-R. Specific CD8 + T cell response immunotherapy for hepatocellular carcinoma and viral hepatitis. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22:6469.
- Dougall WC, Kurtulus S, Smyth MJ, Anderson AC. TIGIT and CD96: new checkpoint receptor targets for cancer immunotherapy. Immunol Rev. 2017;276:112–20.

- 129. Chen DS, Mellman I. Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point. Nature. 2017;541:321–30. http://www.nature.com/ doifinder/10.1038/nature21349
- Mahoney KM, Rennert PD, Freeman GJ. Combination cancer immunotherapy and new immunomodulatory targets. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2015;14(8):561–84.
- Buchbinder EI, Desai A. CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways: similarities, differences, and implications of their inhibition. Am J Clin Oncol. 2016;39:98–106.
- 132. Freeman GJ, Long AJ, Iwai Y, Bourque K, Chernova T, Nishimura H, et al. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. J Exp Med. 2000;192:1027–34.
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:252–64.
- Francisco LM, Sage PT, Sharpe AH. The PD-1 pathway in tolerance and autoimmunity. Immunol Rev. 2010;236:219–42.
- 135. Keir ME, Liang SC, Guleria I, Latchman YE, Qipo A, Albacker LA, et al. Tissue expression of PD-L1 mediates peripheral T cell tolerance. J Exp Med. 2006;203:883–95.
- 136. Homet Moreno B, Ribas A. Anti-programmed cell death protein-1/ligand-1 therapy in different cancers. Br J Cancer. 2015;112:1421–7.
- 137. Ebert PJR, Cheung J, Yang Y, McNamara E, Hong R, Moskalenko M, et al. MAP kinase inhibition promotes t cell and anti-tumor activity in combination with PD-L1 checkpoint blockade. Immunity. 2016;44:609–21.
- 138. Barber DL, Wherry EJ, Masopust D, Zhu B, Allison JP, Sharpe AH, et al. Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection. Nature. 2006;439:682–7.
- 139. Feng M, Xiong G, Cao Z, Yang G, Zheng S, Song X, et al. PD-1/PD-L1 and immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer. Cancer Lett. 2017;407:57–65.
- 140. Pianko MJ, Liu Y, Bagchi S, Lesokhin AM. Immune checkpoint blockade for hematologic malignancies: a review. Stem Cell Investig. 2017;4:32.
- 141. Worzfeld T, Pogge von Strandmann E, Huber M, Adhikary T, Wagner U, Reinartz S, et al. The unique molecular and cellular microenvironment of ovarian cancer. Front Oncol. 2017;7:24.
- 142. Vardhana S, Younes A. The immune microenvironment in Hodgkin lymphoma: T cells, B cells, and immune checkpoints. Haematologica. 2016;101:794–802.
- 143. Wang X, Teng F, Kong L, Yu J. PD-L1 expression in human cancers and its association with clinical outcomes. Onco Targets Ther. 2016;9:5023–39.
- 144. Huang C-T, Workman CJ, Flies D, Pan X, Marson AL, Zhou G, et al. Role of LAG-3 in regulatory T cells. Immunity. 2004;21:503–13.
- 145. Jain N, Nguyen H, Chambers C, Kang J. Dual function of CTLA-4 in regulatory T cells and conven-

tional T cells to prevent multiorgan autoimmunity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107:1524–8.

- 146. Chan DV, Gibson HM, Aufiero BM, Wilson AJ, Hafner MS, Mi Q-S, et al. Differential CTLA-4 expression in human CD4+ versus CD8+ T cells is associated with increased NFAT1 and inhibition of CD4+ proliferation. Genes Immun. 2014;15:25–32.
- 147. Berg M, Zavazava N. Regulation of CD28 expression on CD8+ T cells by CTLA-4. J Leukoc Biol. 2008;83(4):853–63.
- 148. Egen JG, Kuhns MS, Allison JP. CTLA-4: new insights into its biological function and use in tumor immunotherapy. Nat Immunol. 2002;3:611–8.
- 149. Rosanò L, Bagnato A. Endothelin therapeutics in cancer: where are we? Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2016;310:R469–75.
- 150. Rosanò L, Spinella F, Bagnato A. Endothelin 1 in cancer: biological implications and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Cancer. 2013;13:637–51.
- 151. Cianfrocca R, Rosanò L, Tocci P, Sestito R, Caprara V, Di Castro V, et al. Blocking endothelin-1-receptor/β-catenin circuit sensitizes to chemotherapy in colorectal cancer. Cell Death Differ. 2017;24:1811–20.
- 152. Rosanò L, Cianfrocca R, Sestito R, Tocci P, Di Castro V, Bagnato A. Targeting endothelin-1 receptor/β-arrestin1 network for the treatment of ovarian cancer. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2017;21:925–32.
- 153. Bagnato A, Spinella F. Emerging role of endothelin-1 in tumor angiogenesis. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2003;14:44–50.
- Nelson J, Bagnato A, Battistini B, Nisen P. The endothelin axis: emerging role in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2003;3:110–6.
- 155. Wu MH, Chen L-M, Hsu H-H, Lin JA, Lin Y-M, Tsai F-J, et al. Endothelin-1 enhances cell migration through COX-2 up-regulation in human chondrosarcoma. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1830;2013:3355–64.
- 156. Bagnato A, Cirilli A, Salani D, Simeone P, Muller A, Nicotra MR, et al. Growth inhibition of cervix carcinoma cells in vivo by endothelin a receptor blockade. Cancer Res. 2002;62:6381–4.
- 157. Rosanò L, Di Castro V, Spinella F, Nicotra MR, Natali PG, Bagnato A. ZD4054, a specific antagonist of the endothelin a receptor, inhibits tumor growth and enhances paclitaxel activity in human ovarian carcinoma in vitro and in vivo. Mol Cancer Ther. 2007;6:2003–11.
- 158. Banerjee S, Hussain M, Wang Z, Saliganan A, Che M, Bonfil D, et al. In vitro and in vivo molecular evidence for better therapeutic efficacy of ABT-627 and taxotere combination in prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 2007;67:3818–26.
- 159. Coffman L, Mooney C, Lim J, Bai S, Silva I, Gong Y, et al. Endothelin receptor-a is required for the recruitment of antitumor T cells and modulates chemotherapy induction of cancer stem cells. Cancer Biol Ther. 2013;14:184–92.
- 160. Gohji K, Kitazawa S, Tamada H, Katsuoka Y, Nakajima M. Expression of endothelin receptor a

associated with prostate cancer progression. J Urol. 2001;165:1033–6.

- 161. Venuti A, Salani D, Manni V, Poggiali F, Bagnato A. Expression of endothelin 1 and endothelin a receptor in HPV-associated cervical carcinoma: new potential targets for anticancer therapy. FASEB J. 2000;14:2277–83.
- 162. Pflug BR, Zheng H, Udan MS, D'Antonio JM, Marshall FF, Brooks JD, et al. Endothelin-1 promotes cell survival in renal cell carcinoma through the ETA receptor. Cancer Lett. 2007;246:139–48.
- 163. Kandalaft LE, Facciabene A, Buckanovich RJ, Coukos G. Endothelin B receptor, a new target in cancer immune therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:4521–8.
- 164. Bachmann-Brandt S, Bittner I, Neuhaus P, Frei U, Schindler R. Plasma levels of endothelin-1 in patients with the hepatorenal syndrome after successful liver transplantation. Transpl Int. 2000;13:357–62.
- 165. Bagnato A, Rosanò L, Spinella F, Di Castro V, Tecce R, Natali PG. Endothelin B receptor blockade inhibits dynamics of cell interactions and communications in melanoma cell progression. Cancer Res. 2004;64:1436–43.
- 166. Eltze E, Bertolin M, Korsching E, Wülfing P, Maggino T, Lellé R. Expression and prognostic relevance of endothelin-B receptor in vulvar cancer. Oncol Rep. 2007;18:305–11.
- 167. Ganswindt U, Paulsen F, Corvin S, Eichhorn K, Glocker S, Hundt I, et al. Intensity modulated radiotherapy for high risk prostate cancer based on sentinel node SPECT imaging for target volume definition. BMC Cancer. 2005;5:91.
- Demaria S, Bhardwaj N, McBride WH, Formenti SC. Combining radiotherapy and immunotherapy: a revived partnership. Int J Radiat Oncol. 2005;63:655–66.
- 169. Lugade AA, Moran JP, Gerber SA, Rose RC, Frelinger JG, Lord EM. Local radiation therapy of B16 melanoma tumors increases the generation of tumor antigen-specific effector cells that traffic to the tumor. J Immunol. 2005;174:7516–23.
- 170. Lee Y, Auh SL, Wang Y, Burnette B, Wang Y, Meng Y, et al. Therapeutic effects of ablative radiation on local tumor require CD8+ T cells: changing strategies for cancer treatment. Blood. 2009;114:589–95.
- 171. Burnette B, Fu Y-X, Weichselbaum RR. The confluence of radiotherapy and immunotherapy. Front Oncol. 2012;2:143.
- 172. Burnette B, Weichselbaum RR. Radiation as an immune modulator. Semin Radiat Oncol. 2013;23:273–80.
- 173. Lim JYH, Gerber SA, Murphy SP, Lord EM. Type I interferons induced by radiation therapy mediate recruitment and effector function of CD8+ T cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014;63:259–71.
- 174. Sharabi AB, Nirschl CJ, Kochel CM, Nirschl TR, Francica BJ, Velarde E, et al. Stereotactic radiation therapy augments antigen-specific PD-1-mediated antitumor immune responses via cross-presentation

of tumor antigen. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3:345–55.

- 175. Krysko DV, Garg AD, Kaczmarek A, Krysko O, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P. Immunogenic cell death and DAMPs in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12:860–75.
- 176. Kotera Y, Shimizu K, Mulé JJ. Comparative analysis of necrotic and apoptotic tumor cells as a source of antigen(s) in dendritic cell-based immunization. Cancer Res. 2001;61:8105–9.
- 177. Demaria S, Ng B, Devitt ML, Babb JS, Kawashima N, Liebes L, et al. Ionizing radiation inhibition of distant untreated tumors (abscopal effect) is immune mediated. Int J Radiat Oncol. 2004;58:862–70.
- 178. Reits EA, Hodge JW, Herberts CA, Groothuis TA, Chakraborty M, Wansley EK, et al. Radiation modulates the peptide repertoire, enhances MHC class I expression, and induces successful antitumor immunotherapy. J Exp Med. 2006;203:1259–71.
- 179. Vanpouille-Box C, Diamond JM, Pilones KA, Zavadil J, Babb JS, Formenti SC, et al. TGF is a master regulator of radiation therapy-induced antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2015;75:2232–42.
- 180. Hallahan DE, Spriggs DR, Beckett MA, Kufe DW, Weichselbaum RR. Increased tumor necrosis factor alpha mRNA after cellular exposure to ionizing radiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989;86:10104–7.
- Friedman EJ. Immune modulation by ionizing radiation and its implications for cancer immunotherapy. Curr Pharm Des. 2002;8:1765–80.
- 182. Matsumura S, Wang B, Kawashima N, Braunstein S, Badura M, Cameron TO, et al. Radiation-induced CXCL16 release by breast cancer cells attracts effector T cells. J Immunol. 2008;181:3099–107.
- 183. Ganss R, Ryschich E, Klar E, Arnold B, Hämmerling GJ. Combination of T-cell therapy and trigger of inflammation induces remodeling of the vasculature and tumor eradication. Cancer Res. 2002;62:1462–70.
- 184. Zeng J, See AP, Phallen J, Jackson CM, Belcaid Z, Ruzevick J, et al. Anti-PD-1 blockade and stereotactic radiation produce long-term survival in mice with intracranial gliomas. Int J Radiat Oncol. 2013;86:343–9.
- 185. Deng L, Liang H, Burnette B, Beckett M, Darga T, Weichselbaum RR, et al. Irradiation and anti–PD-L1 treatment synergistically promote antitumor immunity in mice. J Clin Invest. 2014;124:687–95.
- 186. Weichselbaum RR, Liang H, Deng L, Fu Y-X. Radiotherapy and immunotherapy: a beneficial liaison? Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2017;14:365–79.
- 187. Demaria S, Kawashima N, Yang AM, Devitt ML, Babb JS, Allison JP, et al. Immune-mediated inhibition of metastases after treatment with local radiation and CTLA-4 blockade in a mouse model of breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:728–34.
- 188. Vanpouille-Box C, Pilones KA, Wennerberg E, Formenti SC, Demaria S. In situ vaccination by radiotherapy to improve responses to anti-CTLA-4 treatment. Vaccine. 2015;33:7415–22.

- 189. Small EJ, Tchekmedyian NS, Rini BI, Fong L, Lowy I, Allison JP. A pilot trial of CTLA-4 blockade with human anti-CTLA-4 in patients with hormone-refractory prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:1810–5.
- 190. Yang JC, Hughes M, Kammula U, Royal R, Sherry RM, Topalian SL, et al. Ipilimumab (anti-CTLA4 antibody) causes regression of metastatic renal cell cancer associated with enteritis and hypophysitis. J Immunother. 2007;30:825–30.
- 191. Weber JS, O'Day S, Urba W, Powderly J, Nichol G, Yellin M, et al. Phase I/II study of Ipilimumab for patients with metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:5950–6.
- 192. Hersh EM, O'Day SJ, Powderly J, Khan KD, Pavlick AC, Cranmer LD, et al. A phase II multicenter study of ipilimumab with or without dacarbazine in chemotherapy-naïve patients with advanced melanoma. Investig New Drugs. 2011;29:489–98.
- 193. Sharma P, Wagner K, Wolchok JD, Allison JP. Novel cancer immunotherapy agents with survival benefit: recent successes and next steps. Nat Rev Cancer. 2011;11:805–12.
- 194. Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, Yamada Y, Yuan J, Kitano S, et al. Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2012;366:925–31.
- 195. Khan MA, Partin AW. Endothelin-a receptor antagonists and advanced prostate cancer. Rev Urol. 2004;6:47–8.
- 196. Akhavan A, McHugh KH, Guruli G, Bies RR, Zamboni WC, Strychor SA, et al. Endothelin receptor a blockade enhances taxane effects in prostate cancer. Neoplasia. 2006;8:725–32.
- 197. Maffei R, Bulgarelli J, Fiorcari S, Martinelli S, Castelli I, Valenti V, et al. Endothelin-1 promotes survival and chemoresistance in chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells through ETA receptor. PLoS One. 2014;9:e98818.
- 198. Bracci L, Schiavoni G, Sistigu A, Belardelli F. Immune-based mechanisms of cytotoxic chemotherapy: implications for the design of novel and rationale-based combined treatments against cancer. Cell Death Differ. 2014;21:15–25.
- 199. Haldar S, Jena N, Croce CM. Inactivation of Bcl-2 by phosphorylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995;92:4507–11.
- 200. Dirkx AEM, MGA OE, Castermans K, van der DWJ S, VLJL T, RPM D, et al. Anti-angiogenesis therapy can overcome endothelial cell anergy and promote leukocyte-endothelium interactions and infiltration in tumors. FASEB J. 2006;20:621–30.
- 201. Park S, Kang S, Chen X, Kim EJ, Kim J, Kim N, et al. Tumor suppression via paclitaxel-loaded drug carriers that target inflammation marker upregulated in tumor vasculature and macrophages. Biomaterials. 2013;34:598–605.
- 202. Javeed A, Ashraf M, Riaz A, Ghafoor A, Afzal S, Mukhtar MM. Paclitaxel and immune system. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2009;38:283–90.

- 203. Shurin GV, Tourkova IL, Kaneno R, Shurin MR. Chemotherapeutic agents in noncytotoxic concentrations increase antigen presentation by dendritic cells via an IL-12-dependent mechanism. J Immunol. 2009;183:137–44.
- 204. Kaneno R, Shurin GV, Tourkova IL, Shurin MR. Chemomodulation of human dendritic cell function by antineoplastic agents in low noncytotoxic concentrations. J Transl Med. 2009;7:58.
- 205. Zhu Y, Liu N, Xiong SD, Zheng YJ, Chu YW. CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T-cell impairment by paclitaxel is independent of toll-like receptor 4. Scand J Immunol. 2011;73:301–8.
- 206. Tanaka H, Matsushima H, Mizumoto N, Takashima A. Classification of chemotherapeutic agents based on their differential in vitro effects on dendritic cells. Cancer Res. 2009;69:6978–86.
- 207. Kodumudi KN, Woan K, Gilvary DL, Sahakian E, Wei S, Djeu JY. A novel chemoimmunomodulating property of docetaxel: suppression of myeloidderived suppressor cells in tumor bearers. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16:4583–94.
- 208. Apetoh L, Végran F, Ladoire S, Ghiringhelli F. Restoration of antitumor immunity through selective inhibition of myeloid derived suppressor cells by anticancer therapies. Curr Mol Med. 2011;11:365–72.
- Zhou S, Wei J, Su S, Chen F, Qiu Y, Liu B. Strategies for bispecific single chain antibody in cancer immunotherapy. J Cancer. 2017;8:3689–96.
- 210. Yu S, Li A, Liu Q, Yuan X, Xu H, Jiao D, et al. Recent advances of bispecific antibodies in solid tumors. J Hematol Oncol. 2017;10:155.
- 211. Löffler A, Kufer P, Lutterbüse R, Zettl F, Daniel PT, Schwenkenbecher JM, et al. A recombinant bispecific single-chain antibody, CD19 x CD3, induces rapid and high lymphoma-directed cytotoxicity by unstimulated T lymphocytes. Blood. 2000;95:2098–103.
- 212. Alibakhshi A, Abarghooi Kahaki F, Ahangarzadeh S, Yaghoobi H, Yarian F, Arezumand R, et al. Targeted cancer therapy through antibody fragmentsdecorated nanomedicines. J Control Release. 2017;268:323–34.
- Razpotnik R, Novak N, Čurin Šerbec V, Rajcevic U. Targeting malignant brain tumors with antibodies. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1181.
- Hoseini SS, Cheung N-KV. Immunotherapy of hepatocellular carcinoma using chimeric antigen receptors and bispecific antibodies. Cancer Lett. 2017;399:44–52.
- 215. Draghiciu O, Lubbers J, Nijman HW, Daemen T. Myeloid derived suppressor cells—an overview of combat strategies to increase immunotherapy efficacy. Onco Targets Ther. 2015;4:e954829.
- 216. Roth F, De La Fuente AC, Vella JL, Zoso A, Inverardi L, Serafini P. Aptamer-mediated blockade of IL4R triggers apoptosis of MDSCs and limits tumor progression. Cancer Res. 2012;72:1373–83.

- 217. Gallina G, Dolcetti L, Serafini P, Santo CD, Marigo I, Colombo MP, et al. Tumors induce a subset of inflammatory monocytes with immunosuppressive activity on CD8+ T cells. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:2777–90.
- Mandruzzato S, Solito S, Falisi E, Francescato S, Chiarion-Sileni V, Mocellin S, et al. IL4Rα <sup>+</sup> myeloid-derived suppressor cell expansion in cancer patients. J Immunol. 2009;182:6562–8.
- 219. Ko JS, Rayman P, Ireland J, Swaidani S, Li G, Bunting KD, et al. Direct and differential suppression of myeloid-derived suppressor cell subsets by sunitinib is compartmentally constrained. Cancer Res. 2010;70:3526–36.
- 220. Draghiciu O, Nijman HW, Hoogeboom BN, Meijerhof T, Daemen T. Sunitinib depletes myeloidderived suppressor cells and synergizes with a cancer vaccine to enhance antigen-specific immune responses and tumor eradication. Onco Targets Ther. 2015;4:e989764.
- 221. Finke JH, Rini B, Ireland J, Rayman P, Richmond A, Golshayan A, et al. Sunitinib reverses type-1 immune suppression and decreases T-regulatory cells in renal cell carcinoma patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2008;14:6674–82.
- 222. Ko JS, Zea AH, Rini BI, Ireland JL, Elson P, Cohen P, et al. Sunitinib mediates reversal of myeloid-derived suppressor cell accumulation in renal cell carcinoma patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:2148–57.
- 223. Vincent J, Mignot G, Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Bruchard M, Chevriaux A, et al. 5-fluorouracil selectively kills tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells resulting in enhanced T cell-dependent antitumor immunity. Cancer Res. 2010;70:3052–61.
- 224. Bruchard M, Mignot G, Derangère V, Chalmin F, Chevriaux A, Végran F, et al. Chemotherapy-triggered cathepsin B release in myeloid-derived suppressor cells activates the NIrp3 inflammasome and promotes tumor growth. Nat Med. 2012;19:57–64.
- 225. Suzuki E, Kapoor V, Jassar AS, Kaiser LR, Albelda SM. Gemcitabine selectively eliminates splenic Gr-1+/CD11b+ myeloid suppressor cells in tumorbearing animals and enhances antitumor immune activity. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11:6713–21.
- 226. Le HK, Graham L, Cha E, Morales JK, Manjili MH, Bear HD. Gemcitabine directly inhibits myeloid derived suppressor cells in BALB/c mice bearing 4T1 mammary carcinoma and augments expansion of T cells from tumor-bearing mice. Int Immunopharmacol. 2009;9:900–9.
- 227. Qin H, Lerman B, Sakamaki I, Wei G, Cha SC, Rao SS, et al. Generation of a new therapeutic peptide that depletes myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. Nat Med. 2014;20:676–81.
- 228. Mahnke K, Schönfeld K, Fondel S, Ring S, Karakhanova S, Wiedemeyer K, et al. Depletion of CD4+CD25+ human regulatory T cells in vivo: kinetics of Treg depletion and alterations in immune functions in vivo and in vitro. Int J Cancer. 2007;120:2723–33.

- 229. Rech AJ, Vonderheide RH. Clinical use of anti-CD25 antibody daclizumab to enhance immune responses to tumor antigen vaccination by targeting regulatory T cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2009;1174:99–106.
- 230. Klages K, Mayer CT, Lahl K, Loddenkemper C, Teng MWL, Ngiow SF, et al. Selective depletion of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells improves effective therapeutic vaccination against established melanoma. Cancer Res. 2010;70:7788–99.
- 231. Walczak M, Regts J, van Oosterhout AJM, Boon L, Wilschut J, Nijman HW, et al. Role of regulatory T-cells in immunization strategies involving a recombinant alphavirus vector system. Antivir Ther. 2011;16:207–18.
- 232. Fuentes AC, Szwed E, Spears CD, Thaper S, Dang LH, Dang NH. Denileukin diftitox (Ontak) as maintenance therapy for peripheral T-cell lymphomas: three cases with sustained remission. Case Rep Oncol Med. 2015;2015:1–5.
- Spranger S, Gajewski T. Rational combinations of immunotherapeutics that target discrete pathways. J Immunother Cancer. 2013;1:16.
- 234. Waldmann TA. Anti-tac (daclizumab, Zenapax) in the treatment of leukemia, autoimmune diseases, and in the prevention of allograft rejection: a 25-year personal odyssey. J Clin Immunol. 2007;27:1–18.
- 235. Liu DV, Maier LM, Hafler DA, Wittrup KD. Engineered interleukin-2 antagonists for the inhibition of regulatory T cells. J Immunother. 2009;32:887–94.
- 236. Tse BWC, Collins A, Oehler MK, Zippelius A, Heinzelmann-Schwarz VA. Antibody-based immunotherapy for ovarian cancer: where are we at? Ann Oncol. 2014;25(2):322–31.
- 237. Ghiringhelli F, Menard C, Puig PE, Ladoire S, Roux S, Martin F, et al. Metronomic cyclophosphamide regimen selectively depletes CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells and restores T and NK effector functions in end stage cancer patients. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56:641–8.
- 238. Gazzaniga S, Bravo AI, Guglielmotti A, van Rooijen N, Maschi F, Vecchi A, et al. Targeting tumor-associated macrophages and inhibition of MCP-1 reduce angiogenesis and tumor growth in a human melanoma xenograft. J Invest Dermatol. 2007;127:2031–41.
- 239. Xiang R, Luo Y, Niethammer AG, Reisfeld RA. Oral DNA vaccines target the tumor vasculature and microenvironment and suppress tumor growth and metastasis. Immunol Rev. 2008;222:117–28.
- 240. Zeisberger SM, Odermatt B, Marty C, Zehnder-Fjällman AHM, Ballmer-Hofer K, Schwendener RA. Clodronate-liposome-mediated depletion of tumour-associated macrophages: a new and highly effective antiangiogenic therapy approach. Br J Cancer. 2006;95:272–81.
- 241. Sousa S, Auriola S, Mönkkönen J, Määttä J. Liposome encapsulated zoledronate favours M1-like behaviour in murine macrophages cultured

with soluble factors from breast cancer cells. BMC Cancer. 2015;15:4.

- 242. Piaggio F, Kondylis V, Pastorino F, Di Paolo D, Perri P, Cossu I, et al. A novel liposomal Clodronate depletes tumor-associated macrophages in primary and metastatic melanoma: anti-angiogenic and antitumor effects. J Control Release. 2016;223:165–77.
- 243. Galletti G, Scielzo C, Barbaglio F, Rodriguez TV, Riba M, Lazarevic D, et al. Targeting macrophages sensitizes chronic lymphocytic leukemia to apoptosis and inhibits disease progression. Cell Rep. 2016;14:1748–60.
- 244. He H, Chiu AC, Kanada M, Schaar BT, Krishnan V, Contag CH, et al. Imaging of tumor-associated macrophages in a transgenic mouse model of orthotopic ovarian cancer. Mol Imaging Biol. 2017;19:694–702.
- 245. Sasahira T, Sasaki T, Kuniyasu H. Interleukin-15 and transforming growth factor alpha are associated with depletion of tumor-associated macrophages in colon cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2005;24:69–74.
- 246. Teague RM, Sather BD, Sacks JA, Huang MZ, Dossett ML, Morimoto J, et al. Interleukin-15 rescues tolerant CD8+ T cells for use in adoptive immunotherapy of established tumors. Nat Med. 2006;12:335–41.
- 247. Kharaziha P, Rodriguez P, Li Q, Rundqvist H, Björklund A-C, Augsten M, et al. Targeting of distinct signaling cascades and cancer-associated fibroblasts define the efficacy of Sorafenib against prostate cancer cells. Cell Death Dis. 2012;3:e262.
- Caserta S, Alessi P, Basso V, Mondino A. IL-7 is superior to IL-2 for ex vivo expansion of tumour-specific CD4(+) T cells. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40:470–9.
- 249. Rosenberg SA, Sportès C, Ahmadzadeh M, Fry TJ, Ngo LT, Schwarz SL, et al. IL-7 administration to humans leads to expansion of CD8+ and CD4+ cells but a relative decrease of CD4+ T-regulatory cells. J Immunother. 2006;29:313–9.
- 250. Gao J, Zhao L, Wan Y, Zhu B. Mechanism of action of IL-7 and its potential applications and limitations in cancer immunotherapy. Int J Mol Sci. 2015;16:10267–80.
- 251. Colombo MP, Trinchieri G. Interleukin-12 in antitumor immunity and immunotherapy. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2002;13:155–68.
- 252. Parhar RS, Zou M, Al-Mohanna FA, Baitei EY, Assiri AM, Meyer BF, et al. IL-12 immunotherapy of BrafV600E-induced papillary thyroid cancer in a mouse model. Lab Investig. 2016;96:89–97.
- 253. Vo JL, Yang L, Kurtz SL, Smith SG, Koppolu BP, et al. Neoadjuvant immunotherapy with chitosan and interleukin-12 to control breast cancer metastasis. Oncoimmunology. 2014;3:e968001.
- 254. Smith SG, Koppolu BP, Ravindranathan S, Kurtz SL, Yang L, Katz MD, et al. Intravesical chitosan/interleukin-12 immunotherapy induces tumor-specific systemic immunity against murine bladder cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2015;64:689–96.
- 255. Ingthorsson S, Andersen K, Hilmarsdottir B, Maelandsmo GM, Magnusson MK, Gudjonsson

T. HER2 induced EMT and tumorigenicity in breast epithelial progenitor cells is inhibited by coexpression of EGFR. Oncogene. 2016;35:4244–55.

- 256. Privitera G, Luca T, Musso N, Vancheri C, Crimi N, Barresi V, et al. In vitro antiproliferative effect of trastuzumab (Herceptin®) combined with cetux-imab (Erbitux®) in a model of human non-small cell lung cancer expressing EGFR and HER2. Clin Exp Med. 2016;16:161–8.
- 257. Razumienko EJ, Chen JC, Cai Z, Chan C, Reilly RM. Dual-receptor-targeted radioimmunotherapy of human breast cancer xenografts in athymic mice coexpressing HER2 and EGFR using 177Lu- or 1111n-labeled bispecific radioimmunoconjugates. J Nucl Med. 2016;57:444–52.
- 258. Church AK, Van der Meid KR, Baig NA, Baran AM, Witzig TE, Nowakowski GS, et al. Anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody-dependent phagocytosis of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells by autologous macrophages. Clin Exp Immunol. 2016;183:90–101.
- 259. Cramer P, Hallek M, Eichhorst B. State-of-the-art treatment and novel agents in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Oncol Res Treat. 2016;39:25–32.
- Pento JT. Monoclonal antibodies for the treatment of cancer. Anticancer Res. 2017;37:5935–9.
- 261. Kalergis AM, Ravetch JV. Inducing tumor immunity through the selective engagement of activating Fcgamma receptors on dendritic cells. J Exp Med. 2002;195:1653–9.
- 262. Zou W, Wolchok JD, Chen L. PD-L1 (B7-H1) and PD-1 pathway blockade for cancer therapy: Mechanisms, response biomarkers, and combinations. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8:328rv4.
- 263. Pilon-Thomas S, Mackay A, Vohra N, Mule JJ. Blockade of programmed death ligand 1 enhances the therapeutic efficacy of combination immunotherapy against melanoma. J Immunol. 2010;184:3442–9.
- 264. Grosso JF, Kelleher CC, Harris TJ, Maris CH, Hipkiss EL, De Marzo A, et al. LAG-3 regulates CD8+ T cell accumulation and effector function in murine self- and tumor-tolerance systems. J Clin Invest. 2007;117:3383–92.
- 265. Grosso JF, Goldberg MV, Getnet D, Bruno TC, Yen H-R, Pyle KJ, et al. Functionally distinct LAG-3 and PD-1 subsets on activated and chronically stimulated CD8 T cells. J Immunol. 2009;182:6659–69.
- 266. Herbst RS, Soria J-C, Kowanetz M, Fine GD, Hamid O, Gordon MS, et al. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. Nature. 2014;515:563–7.
- Chen L, Han X. Anti–PD-1/PD-L1 therapy of human cancer: past, present, and future. J Clin Invest. 2015;125:3384–91.
- Gubin MM, Zhang X, Schuster H, Caron E, Ward JP, Noguchi T, et al. Checkpoint blockade cancer immunotherapy targets tumour-specific mutant antigens. Nature. 2014;515:577–81.
- 269. Powles T, Eder JP, Fine GD, Braiteh FS, Loriot Y, Cruz C, et al. MPDL3280A (anti-PD-L1) treatment

leads to clinical activity in metastatic bladder cancer. Nature. 2014;515:558–62.

- 270. Zhang Q, Yang X, Pins M, Javonovic B, Kuzel T, Kim S-J, et al. Adoptive transfer of tumor-reactive transforming growth factor-beta-insensitive CD8+ T cells: eradication of autologous mouse prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 2005;65:1761–9.
- 271. Terabe M, Ambrosino E, Takaku S, O'Konek JJ, Venzon D, Lonning S, et al. Synergistic enhancement of CD8+ T cell-mediated tumor vaccine efficacy by an anti-transforming growth factor-beta monoclonal antibody. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:6560–9.
- 272. Faivre S, Raymond E, Boucher E, Douillard J, Lim HY, Kim JS, et al. Safety and efficacy of sunitinib in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: an open-label, multicentre, phase II study. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10:794–800.

- 273. Drabsch Y, ten Dijke P. TGF-β signalling and its role in cancer progression and metastasis. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2012;31:553–68.
- 274. Wang F-L, Qin W-J, Wen W-H, Tian F, Song B, Zhang Q, et al. TGF-beta insensitive dendritic cells: an efficient vaccine for murine prostate cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2007;56:1785–93.
- 275. Khalil M, Vonderheide RH. Anti-CD40 agonist antibodies: preclinical and clinical experience. Update Cancer Ther. 2007;2:61–5.
- 276. Vonderheide RH. Prospect of targeting the CD40 pathway for cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:1083–8.
- 277. Zhang B, Wu T, Chen M, Zhou Y, Yi D, Guo R. The CD40/CD40L system: a new therapeutic target for disease. Immunol Lett. 2013;153:58–61.